IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA

STATE OF IOWA,)
Plaintiff-Appellee,	
v.) S.CT. NO. 18-0747
DESTINY BROWN,	
Defendant–Appellant.	

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE BROOK JACOBSEN, JUDGE

APPELLANT'S BRIEF AND ARGUMENT

MARK C. SMITH State Appellate Defender

MARY K. CONROY Assistant Appellate Defender mconroy@spd.state.ia.us appellatedefender@spd.state.ia.us

STATE APPELLATE DEFENDER Fourth Floor Lucas Building Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-8841 / (515) 281-7281 FAX

ATTORNEYS FOR DEFENDANT-APPELLANT

FINAL

CERTIFICATE OF SERVICE

STATEMENT OF THE ISSUE PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

WHETHER THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS?

Authorities

State v. Wright, 441 N.W.2d 364, 366 (Iowa 1989)

State v. Hilpipre, 242 N.W.2d 306, 309 (Iowa 1976)

State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d 720, 725 (Iowa 2006)

State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 293, 297 (Iowa 2005)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Howard, 509 N.W.2d 764, 767 (Iowa 1993)

State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007)

U.S. Const. amend. IV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 8

State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Predka, 555 N.W.2d 202, 205 (Iowa 1996)

Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284, 287–88 (Iowa 2017)

State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 781 (Iowa 2010)

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968)

1. State's failure to meet its burden of proof

State v. Scheffert, 910 N.W.2d 577, 585 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Tyler, 830 N.W.2d 288, 294-96, 298 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Murrillo, No. 17–1025, 2018 WL 3302202, at *3 (Iowa Ct. App. July 5, 2018) (unpublished table decision)

State v. Louwrens, 792 N.W.2d 649, 651-52 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284, 301 (Iowa 2017)

United States v. Edgerton, 438 F.3d 1043, 1051 (10th Cir. 2006)

United States v. Valadez, 267 F.3d 395, 398 (5th Cir. 2001)

People v. Redinger, 906 P.2d 81, 85-86 (Colo. 1995)

2. The officer's failure to diligently and reasonably investigate the reasonable suspicion for the traffic stop

State v. Pals, 805 N.W.2d 767, 774 (Iowa 2011)

State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284, 288 (Iowa 2017)

Florida v. Royer, 460 U.S. 491, 500 (1983)

State v. Melohn, 516 N.W.2d 24, 25 (Iowa 1994)

3 Wayne LaFave, Search and Seizure § 9.3(b), at 432 (1987)

People v. McQuown, 943 N.E.2d 1242, 1248-49 (Ill. App. Ct. 2011)

State v. Thorpe, 754 S.E.2d 213, 221 (N.C. Ct. App. 2014)

State v. Bruegger, 773 N.W.2d 862, 883 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Cline, 617 N.W.2d 277, 285 (Iowa 2000)

State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601 (Iowa 2001)

State v. Ochoa, 792 N.W.2d 260, 273 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Baldon, 829 N.W.2d 785, 809-10 (Iowa 2013)

Donald P. Racheter, The Iowa Constitution: Rights over Mechanics, in The Constitutionalism of American States 479, 479 (George E. Connor & Christopher W. Hammons eds., 2008)

State v. Short, 851 N.W.2d 474, 482 (Iowa 2014)

State v. Ingram, 914 N.W.2d 794, 799 (Iowa 2018)

State v. Fleming, 790 N.W.2d 560, 567-68 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Tague, 676 N.W.2d 197, 206 (Iowa 2004)

State v. Brown, 905 N.W.2d 846, 847 (Iowa 2018)

3. To the extent error was not preserved, counsel was ineffective

Lamasters v. State, 821 N.W.2d 856, 864 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Paredes, 775 N.W.2d 554, 561 (Iowa 2009)

State v. Williams, 695 N.W.2d 23, 27-28 (Iowa 2005)

U.S. Const. amends. VI, XIV

Iowa Const. art. I, § 10

State v. Ambrose, 861 N.W.2d 550, 555 (Iowa 2015)

State v. Brothern, 832 N.W.2d 187, 192 (Iowa 2013)

State v. Maxwell, 743 N.W.2d 185, 195 (Iowa 2008)

State v. Clay, 824 N.W.2d 488, 495 (Iowa 2012)

State v. Lyman, 776 N.W.2d 865, 878 (Iowa 2010)

State v. Hrbek, 336 N.W.2d 431, 435-36 (Iowa 1983)

State v. Leckington, 713 N.W.2d 208, 218 (Iowa 2006)

Strickland v. Washington, 466 U.S. 668, 694 (1984)

ROUTING STATEMENT

The Court should transfer this case to the Court of Appeals because it raises issues that involve the application of existing legal principles. Iowa R. App. P. 6.903(2)(d) & 6.1101(3)(a) (2017).

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Nature of the Case: Defendant-Appellant Destiny
Brown appeals her convictions, sentences, and judgment
following a bench trial and verdict finding her guilty of
Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine),
Second Offense, and Possession of a Controlled Substance
(Tramadol), Second Offense, both aggravated misdemeanors,
in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2017).

Course of Proceedings: On January 11, 2018, the State charged Brown with Carrying Weapons, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code 724.2(1) (2017); Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine), Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2017); Possession of a

Controlled Substance (Cocaine), Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2017); and Possession of a Controlled Substance (Tramadol), Second Offense, an aggravated misdemeanor, in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5) (2017). (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-6). The State alleged Brown had a prior conviction for Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in Black Hawk County Case No. SRCR202410, on August 18, 2015, thereby enhancing the possession charges to second offenses. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4-6) (Mins. Test. p.4) (Confidential App. p. 7). Brown entered a plea of not guilty to all charges on January 24, 2018. (Arraignment Order) (App. pp. 7–9).

On February 2, 2018, Brown filed a motion to suppress seeking to exclude evidence obtained during the search of her vehicle on January 4, 2018. (Mot. Suppress) (App. pp. 10–11). The court heard the motion to suppress on February 21, 2018. (Suppress. Tr. p.1 L.1–12). During the hearing, the State presented testimony from the police officer who initiated the

traffic stop, Waterloo Police Officer Nicholas Weber.

(Suppress. Tr. p.5 L.9–p.20 L.21). Additionally, the State admitted Exhibit A, which included two dvds with several of law enforcement's videos from the stop and subsequent search. (Suppress. Tr. p.8 L.10–p.9 L.2) (Ex. A). On March 29, 2018, the district court issued a written ruling denying Brown's motion to suppress. (Suppress. Ruling) (App. pp. 12–17).

A pretrial conference was set the same day as the district court's issuance of the suppression ruling, and the parties agreed to proceed to trial immediately. (Trial Tr. p.1 L.10–19). Brown waived her right to a jury trial and stipulated to a bench trial on the minutes of testimony and the exhibit submitted at the suppression hearing. (Trial Tr. p.6 L.18–p.7 L.16, p.11 L.22–25) (Trial Ruling) (App. p. 18). Before the submission of the evidence to the judge, the State moved to

¹ The record indicates Brown executed a waiver of her right to a trial by jury in writing, but no written waiver was ever filed in accordance with Iowa Rule of Criminal Procedure 2.17(1). (Trial Tr. p.5 L.25–p.6 L.7) (Trial Ruling) (App. p. 18). The court did conduct an in-court colloquy with Brown regarding the waiver. (Trial Tr. p.2 L.20–p.6 L.16).

dismiss Count III: Possession of a Controlled Substance (Cocaine), Second Offense because it lacked sufficient evidence to prove the charge. (Trial Tr. p.8 L.14-21) (Trial Ruling) (App. p. 18). At the bench trial, Brown also stipulated that she had a previous conviction for a controlled substance. (Trial Tr. p.9 L.6-p.11 L.19) (Trial Ruling) (App. pp. 18, 21). The court took the matter under advisement and subsequently issued written verdict finding Brown guilty of Count II: Possession of a Controlled Substance (Methamphetamine), Second Offense and Count IV: Possession of a Controlled Substance (Tramadol), Second Offense, both in violation of Iowa Code section 124.401(5), on April 23, 2018. (Trial Tr. p.11 L.22p.12 L.9) (Trial Ruling) (App. pp. 18-22). The district court found Brown not guilty of Count I: Carrying Weapons. (Trial Ruling) (App. pp. 19–21).

On April 27, 2018, Brown waived her right to a fifteen day period between the verdict and sentencing, and she requested to be sentenced immediately. (Sentencing Tr. p.3 L.10-p.4 L.9). After hearing the parties' recommendations, the

district court sentenced Brown to a term of incarceration not to exceed two years on each count. (Sentencing Tr. p.4 L.7p.12 L.9) (Sentencing Order) (App. pp. 23-24). The court ordered the sentences to run concurrent with one another, but consecutive to Brown's parole revocation in a separate case. (Sentencing Tr. p.12 L.9-22, p.13 L.14-19) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 24). The district court also imposed a fine of \$625 for each count, but immediately suspended them. (Sentencing Tr. p.13 L.3-5) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 24). In addition, the court imposed the \$125 Law Enforcement Initiative surcharge and the \$10 Drug Abuse Resistance Education surcharge for each charge, and it ordered Brown to pay court costs. (Sentencing Tr. p.13 L.7-9) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 24). However, the court found Brown was unable to pay her attorney fees. (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 24). Lastly, the district court ordered the Department of Transportation to revoke Brown's driver's license for one hundred and eighty days pursuant to Iowa Code section 901.5(10), and the court

ordered Brown to submit a DNA sample under section 81.2(1). (Sentencing Tr. p.13 L.10–11) (Sentencing Order) (App. p. 24).

Brown timely filed a notice of appeal on April 30, 2018. (Notice Appeal) (App. p. 27).

Facts:

Trial on the Minutes: For the bench trial, the parties stipulated to the minutes of testimony, additional minutes, and Exhibit A from the suppression hearing, which support the following facts:

At approximately 2:52 a.m., on January 4, 2018,
Waterloo Police Officer Nicholas Weber initiated a traffic stop
on a vehicle for a registration violation. (Additional Mins. Test.
02/05/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. p. 35) (Ex. A Weber 709
02:52:26–02:53:45). Officer Weber identified Destiny Brown
as the vehicle's driver. (Additional Mins. Test. 02/05/18 p. 2)
(Confidential App. p. 35). Brown told Officer Weber she did
not have a valid driver's license; further investigation
established her license was suspended for nonpayment of
fines, and there was a warrant out for her arrest for a parole

violation. (Additional Mins. Test. 02/05/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. p. 35) (Ex. A Weber 709 02:53:45-02:54:10, 03:00:40-03:01:00; Ex. A Weber HDBW39 03:08:15-03:08:40). Another officer responded to the stop with a K-9. (Mins. Test. p. 17; Additional Mins. Test. 02/05/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. pp. 20, 35). That officer walked the K-9 around the vehicle, and the K-9 alerted on the vehicle, indicating the presence of a controlled substance. (Mins. Test. p. 17) (Confidential App. p. 20) (Ex. A Weber 709 03:00:40-03:02:00, Ex. A Ehlers 03:02:40–03:04:035). Brown also admitted to Officer Weber that she might have a marijuana pipe in the vehicle, but she denied having any drugs in the vehicle. (Additional Mins. Test. 02/05/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. p. 35) (Ex. A Weber 709 03:01:30-03:2:15; Ex. A Weber HDBW39 03:02:55-03:03:15).

Pursuant to the positive K-9 alert, officers searched the vehicle. (Mins. Test. p. 17; Additional Mins. Test. 01/24/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. pp. 20, 33) (Ex. A Weber 709 03:02:50–03:09:40; Ex. A Ehlers 03:02:40–03:11:10). Officers found a working stun gun laying in plain view on top of the center

console near the gear shift, a glass pipe with methamphetamine in a duffle bag in the trunk, methamphetamine² in Brown's purse, eight tramadol prescription pills in Brown's purse, and various drug paraphernalia. (Mins. Test. pp. 6, 8, 12, 17; Additional Mins. Test. 01/18/18 p. 4; Additional Mins. Test. 01/24/18 p. 2) (Confidential App. pp. 9, 11, 15, 20, 27, 33) (Ex. A Scarbrough HDBW30 03:04:50–03:07:45, 03:09:30–03:10:10).

Law enforcement sent the controlled substances to the Division of Criminal Investigation for testing. (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/18 pp. 1–2) (Confidential App. p. 37–38). Testing at the laboratory confirmed the white powdery substance found in Brown's purse and the duffle bag was methamphetamine. (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/18 p. 4) (Confidential App. p. 40). The criminalist also found the white

² Officers initially identified the controlled substance as cocaine, and the State charged it in the trial information accordingly. (Trial Information) (App. pp. 4–6); (Mins. Test. p. 10) (Confidential App. p. 13). However, laboratory testing established the substance was actually methamphetamine. (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/2018 p. 4) (Confidential App. p. 40).

pills located in Brown's purse were "consistent in appearance with a pharmaceutical preparation containing tramadol, Schedule IV." (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/18 p. 4) (Confidential App. p. 40). Moreover, the criminalist's report indicated that "[v]isual examination of the [pills] is based on manufacturer's unique markings³ required by the United States Food and Drug Administration regulations, which in conjunction with the product's size, shape, and color, permits the unique identification of the drug product." (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/18 p. 4) (Confidential App. p. 40).

Brown was previously convicted of Possession of a Controlled Substance (Marijuana) in Black Hawk County Case No. SRCR202410, on August 18, 2015. (Mins. Test. pp. 4–5, 17) (Confidential App. pp. 7–8, 20).

Suppression Hearing: At the suppression hearing,

Officer Weber testified that he stopped the vehicle for failing to
have a valid license plate on the back bumper; he could only
see a paper plate identifying the car dealer on the rear

³ The pills were labeled with the numerals "319". (Additional Mins. Test. 03/26/18 p. 4) (Confidential App. p. 40).

bumper. (Suppress. Tr. p.6 L.8-3, p.14 L.14-17). Officer Weber testified that at the time he turned on his lights and made the stop, he did not see the temporary plate hanging in the back window. (Suppress. p.7 L.4-5). On Exhibit A, a temporary plate is visible in the top left corner of the vehicle's back windshield. See, e.g., (Ex. A Weber 709 02:53:25-02:53:36, Ex. A Weber HDBW39 02:55:31-02:55:34, 03:01:32-03:01:36, 03:10:45-03:10:50; Ex. A Scarbrough HDBW30 03:00:58-03:02:15). Weber testified sometime during the stop he did notice the temporary plate, but he did not recall when he noticed it. (Suppress. Tr. p.11 L.11-14, p.16 L.24-p.17 L.8, p.19 L.14-24). He further testified that he could not recall ever identifying the date listed on the temporary registration, and he did not check to see when the temporary registration expired. (Suppress. Tr. p.11 L.15–17, p.17 L.14-16).

Any other relevant facts will be discussed below.

ARGUMENT

THE DISTRICT COURT ERRED BY DENYING THE DEFENDANT'S MOTION TO SUPPRESS.

Preservation of Error: Brown filed a motion to suppress, seeking the exclusion of the evidence found in the vehicle under the Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution. (Mot. Suppress) (App. pp. 10-11). At the suppression hearing, defense counsel clarified the challenge was to the continued detention of Brown after the initial traffic stop. (Suppress. Tr. p.3 L.15-p.5 L.6). Therefore, Brown preserved error by filing the motion to suppress and the district court's denial of the motion. (Mot. Suppress; Suppress. Ruling) (App. pp. 10–17). See State v. Wright, 441 N.W.2d 364, 366 (Iowa 1989) (quoting State v. Hilpipre, 242 N.W.2d 306, 309 (Iowa 1976)) ("The rule is well settled that 'an adverse ruling on pretrial suppression motion will suffice to preserve error for appellate review even though" the defendant stipulates to trial based on minutes of testimony).

To the extent this Court concludes error was not properly preserved for any reason, Brown respectfully requests that this issue be considered under the Court's familiar ineffective-assistance-of-counsel framework. See State v. Tobin, 333 N.W.2d 842, 844 (Iowa 1983).

- **B.** Standard of Review: The Court reviews alleged violations of constitutional rights de novo. State v. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d 720, 725 (Iowa 2006) (citing State v. Freeman, 705 N.W.2d 293, 297 (Iowa 2005)). The Court makes "'an independent evaluation of the totality of the circumstances as shown by the entire record." State v. Turner, 630 N.W.2d 601, 606 (Iowa 2001) (quoting State v. Howard, 509 N.W.2d 764, 767 (Iowa 1993)). The Court may give deference to the district court's factual findings "due to its opportunity to evaluate the credibility of the witnesses," but it is not bound by the findings. State v. Lane, 726 N.W.2d 371, 377 (Iowa 2007).
- C. <u>Discussion</u>: The Fourth Amendment to the United States Constitution and article I, section 8 of the Iowa

Constitution both protect individuals from unreasonable searches and seizures. U.S. Const. amend. IV; Iowa Const. art. I, § 8; see also State v. Naujoks, 637 N.W.2d 101, 107 (Iowa 2001) (citation omitted). The Fourth Amendment of the U.S. Constitution applies to the states through incorporation by the Fourteenth Amendment. State v. Wilkes, 756 N.W.2d 838 (Iowa 2008) (citation omitted). "When the police stop a car and temporarily detain an individual, the temporary detention is a 'seizure" which is subject to the requirement of constitutional reasonableness. State v. Predka, 555 N.W.2d 202, 205 (Iowa 1996) (citing Whren v. United States, 517 U.S. 806, 810 (1996)); State v. Coleman, 890 N.W.2d 284, 287-88 (Iowa 2017) (citation omitted).

Unless an exception to the warrant requirement exists, warrantless searches and seizures are per se unreasonable.

Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d at 726 (citing Freeman, 705 N.W.2d at 297). The State bears the burden of proving by a preponderance of the evidence that such an exception applies. Hoskins, 711 N.W.2d at 726 (citation omitted). "One well-

established exception allows an officer to briefly stop an individual or vehicle for investigatory purposes when the officer has a reasonable, articulable suspicion that a criminal act has occurred, is occurring, or is about to occur." State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 781 (Iowa 2010) (citations omitted). Reasonable suspicion exists when law enforcement has "specific and articulable facts that, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, would lead the officer to reasonably believe criminal activity is afoot." Vance, 790 N.W.2d at 781 (Iowa 2010) (citing Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21 (1968)).

In this case, Brown argued <u>State v. Coleman</u> and the principles outlined within required suppression of the evidence. (Suppress. Tr. p.4 L.8–p.5 L.1, p.27 L.14–p.31 L.18). In <u>State v. Coleman</u>, the Iowa Supreme Court considered "whether a law enforcement officer, after making a valid traffic stop supported by reasonable suspicion that an offense may be being committed, must terminate the stop when the underlying reason for the stop is no longer present." <u>Coleman</u>,

890 N.W.2d at 285. After canvassing nationwide precedent, the Court held that "when the reason for a traffic stop is resolved and there is no other basis for reasonable suspicion, article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution requires that the driver must be allowed to go his or her way without further ado." Id. at 301. Moreover, the Coleman court indicated whether the Fourth Amendment required a similar conclusion was uncertain, but many various state and federal jurisdictions had found continued detentions when the reasonable suspicion has dissipated violated the federal constitution as well. See Coleman, 890 N.W.2d at 287–96.

In the instant case, the State argued and the district court concluded that Officer Weber had reasonable suspicion to believe there was an ongoing traffic offense related to the vehicle's registration both when the officer initially pulled over the vehicle Brown was driving⁴ and when he approached

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