IN THE SUPREME COURT OF IOWA Supreme Court No. 18-0747

STATE OF IOWA, Plaintiff-Appellee,

VS.

DESTINY BROWN,
Defendant-Appellant.

APPEAL FROM THE IOWA DISTRICT COURT FOR BLACK HAWK COUNTY THE HONORABLE BROOK K. JACOBSEN, JUDGE

APPELLEE'S BRIEF

THOMAS J. MILLER Attorney General of Iowa

RICHARD J. BENNETT

Special Counsel Hoover State Office Building, 2nd Floor Des Moines, Iowa 50319 (515) 281-5976 (515) 281-4902 (fax) rjbennettlaw@gmail.com

BRIAN J. WILLIAMS Black Hawk County Attorney

MICHAEL HUDSON Assistant County Attorney

ATTORNEYS FOR PLAINTIFF-APPELLEE

FINAL

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

plate, according to defendant, when he walked up to the defendant's vehicle, his questioning of her was unlawful under *Coleman* – the reason for the stop would evaporate upon observing the temporary plate. Defendant's Brief at 27 – 31, 32. While the main thrust of this argument appears to rest on *Coleman* and the Iowa Constitution, the defendant also asserts a violation of the Fourth Amendment. Defendant's Brief at 30.

The State agrees these claims have been preserved. However, because the defendant does not urge a different standard under the state constitution, the same standards should be applied as to both cases. *See State v Lowe*, 812 N.W. 2d 554, 566 (Iowa 2012).

Second, the defendant argues the officer had a duty to diligently and reasonably investigate the cited reason for the stop. Because, defendant argues, the officer did not perform a reasonable and diligent investigation before approaching the vehicle to speak with the defendant, her detention while Officer Weber spoke with her was illegal. In other words, he should have looked further for a temporary plate in the vehicle's back window before approaching the defendant. The defendant asserts this claim under both federal and state constitutions, but further argues that if the Fourth Amendment does

not impose a duty of reasonable diligence in investigating a traffic violation, then this Court should find such a duty under the Iowa Constitution. Defendant's Brief at 32 – 33, 36, 38. Because the defendant failed to urge in the district court a different standard under the state constitution, this claim on appeal has been waived. *State v. Prusha*, 874 N.W. 2d 627, 629 – 30 (Iowa 2016).

Finally, the State addresses the defendant's suggestion that the vehicle stop was pretextual. She claims in her brief that the record suggests it was pretextual because police targeted her vehicle after it was seen driving in "high drug areas." This claim is made in a summary fashion, comprised of only one sentence, and no case law to support it is cited in the defendant's brief. Defendant's Brief at 34. However, in a footnote the defendant recognizes a claim of pretext was not raised in the district court, and so affirmatively states she does not pursue it in this appeal. Defendant's Brief at 34, n. 5. The State agrees that any claim of pretext has been waived for failure to raise it in the district court, as well as for failure to argue it on appeal. See State v. Tyler, 867 N.W. 2d 136, 166 n. 4 (Iowa 2015) (finding State waived on appeal any harmless error argument because its brief only made a passing reference to it); State v. Crone, 545 N.W. 2d

267, 270 (Iowa 1996) (sufficiency-of-evidence claim not preserved for appeal because it was not made in the district court).

Lastly, the defendant argues that "[t]o the extent this Court concludes error was not properly preserved for any reason," then the Court should review the matter under ineffective assistance principles. Defendant's Brief at 23. Of course, a claim of ineffective assistance of trial counsel may be raised for the first time on appeal. *State v. Fountain*, 786 N.W. 2d 260, 263 (Iowa 2010).

Standard of Review

Search and seizure claims are reviewed de novo. *State v*. *Shanahan*, 712 N.W. 2d 121, 131 (Iowa 2006). Although the appellate court is not bound by the trial court's factual findings in a suppression case, it nevertheless gives deference to those findings because of the trial court's ability to assess witness credibility. *Id*.

Ineffective assistance of counsel claims are also reviewed de novo. *State v. Straw*, 709 N.W. 2d 128, 133 (Iowa 2006).

Merits

The Fourth Amendment provides for the "right of the people to be secure in their persons, houses, papers, and effects against unreasonable searches and seizures." U.S. Const. amend IV. Typically, the Fourth Amendment requires a warrant supported by probable cause to support a search or seizure. Yet, an investigatory stop is a well-established exception to the warrant requirement.

Terry v. Ohio, 392 U.S. 1, 21-22, 88 S. Ct. 1868, 1880 – 81, 20 L. Ed. 2d 889 (1968); State v. Vance, 790 N.W.2d 775, 780 (Iowa 2010).

This exception "allows an officer to briefly stop an individual or vehicle for investigatory purposes when the officer has a reasonable, articulable suspicion that a criminal act has occurred, is occurring, or is about to occur." Vance, 790 N.W.2d at 780. Reasonable suspicion may exist even when there is no probable cause for arrest. Terry, 392 U.S. at 22; Vance, 790 N.W.2d at 781; State v. Donnell, 239 N.W.2d 575, 577 (Iowa 1976). In fact, an investigatory stop requires "considerably less than proof of wrongdoing by a preponderance of the evidence." State v. Richardson, 501 N.W.2d 495, 496-97 (Iowa 1993) (quoting *United States v. Sokolow*, 490 U.S. 1, 8 (1989)). The purpose of an investigatory stop is "to resolve the ambiguity as to whether criminal activity is afoot." *Richardson*, 501 N.W.2d at 497. Thus, to uphold a stop a court must find that "the officer had specific and articulable facts that, taken together with rational inferences from those facts, would lead the officer to reasonably believe criminal

activity is afoot." *Vance*, 790 N.W. 2d at 781. Moreover, a traffic stop may rest on probable cause – and not just reasonable suspicion – when a police officer has observed a traffic offense. *State v. Harrison*, 846 N.W. 2d 362, 365 (Iowa 2014). Regardless whether it is reasonable suspicion or probable cause at issue, hindsight is irrelevant; determining whether a stop is lawful is judged by the totality of the circumstances known to the officer at the time of the stop. *State v. Tague*, 676 N.W. 2d 197, 204 (Iowa 2004); *United States v. Mendoza*, 691 F. 3d 954, 959 (8th Cir. 2012), *cert. denied*, 568 U.S. 1137, 133 S.Ct. 966, 184 L. Ed. 2d 750 (2013).

Iowa Code section 321.37 (1) (2017) provides that registration plates that have been issued for a motor vehicle must be attached to both the front and rear of the vehicle. However, the vehicle may be operated up to 45 days after purchase without permanent registration plates if a "card bearing the words 'registration applied for' is attached on the rear of the vehicle." Iowa Code section 321.25 (2017). A vehicle may be stopped based on probable cause when an officer observes there is no permanent license or registration plate on the back of the vehicle, and the officer does not see a proper temporary card or plate in the back. Such circumstances support probable cause

to believe that section 321.37 (1) has been violated. *See State v*.

Andrews, 705 N.W. 2d 493, 495 – 97 (Iowa 2005); *State v*. *Lloyd*, 701 N. W. 2d 678, 679 – 81 (Iowa 2005). Even when the officer discovers a proper temporary plate after the stop is made, a reasonable mistake of fact does not negate the reasonable suspicion or probable cause supporting the stop. *State v*. *Tyler*, 830 N.W. 2d 288, 292 (Iowa 2013); *State v*. *Lloyd*, 701 N.W. 2d at 680 – 82.

The defendant in this case does not contest the lawfulness of the vehicle stop; she apparently concedes a legitimate mistake of fact occurred because Officer Weber could not see a temporary plate in the vehicle's back window prior to stopping the vehicle. Suppression Tr. p. 3, line 15 – p. 5, line 1; p. 27, lines 14 – 21; Defendant's Brief at 26, n. 4. Instead, the defendant contests the detention which ensued after her vehicle was stopped, contending the officer either actually saw the temporary plate in the back window before speaking with her, or he should have acted more diligently and discovered it before approaching the defendant. According to the defendant, State v. Coleman, was violated either way because the stop lasted longer than needed to resolve the traffic matter at issue. Defendant's Brief at 12 -13.

The district court upheld the detention and questioning of the defendant as lawful, supported by probable cause and/or reasonable suspicion. Officer Weber's failure to detect or discover the temporary plate before speaking with defendant was an objectively reasonable mistake of fact. Not until the officer spoke with the defendant was the basis for the stop resolved, and so the rule in *Coleman* was not violated. Ruling on Motion to Suppress (hereafter Ruling) unnumbered pp. 4-5; App.15-16. The district court's denial of suppression should be affirmed.

A. The defendant's burden of proof claim.

The State agrees it has the burden of proof to establish by a preponderance of the evidence that the stop, as well as the detention, was lawful. *See State v. Louwrens*, 792 N.W. 2d 649, 650 (Iowa 2010). The district court ruled that the decision in *Coleman*, was not violated. Although evidence at suppression indicated that, at some point, during the stop Officer Nicholas Weber noticed the temporary registration card in the vehicle's back window, the court found he had not done so before speaking with the defendant. It was only then that the officer resolved the registration question, as well as learning that

the defendant did not have a driver's license. Ruling unnumbered pp. 1-3; App. 12-14.

The defendant argues the court's finding that the officer did not see the temporary plate before he spoke with her is not supported by the record. Defendant's Brief at 29. She asserts the court's factual finding is undermined by the officer's testimony at various points in the hearing that he did not "recall" or "know" when it was that he noticed a temporary plate. Suppression Tr. p. 11, lines 11 - 14; p. 17, lines 3 - 5; p. 19, lines 14 - 21. Defendant's Brief at 29.

It is true that the officer never expressly testified that he "did not see a temporary plate" after leaving his squad car and walking up to defendant. However, his testimony did reflect that he did not recall seeing a temporary plate as he approached the vehicle. Suppression Tr. p. 19, lines 14 – 24. Furthermore, the officer's failure to see a temporary plate is corroborated by the nature of his questioning of the defendant. Because the vehicle did not have a current valid registration plate on the rear bumper he asked about the vehicle's registration status, and if she had any paperwork regarding its purchase. Suppression Tr. p. 11, line 18 – p. 12, line 4. During that conversation he learned the vehicle did have a valid registration, and

that there should have been a metal license plate on the rear bumper. Suppression Tr. p. 11, line 21 - p. 12, line 13. Thus, the question of whether the vehicle was being lawfully driven was not resolved until the police officer spoke with the defendant. Suppression Tr. p. 12, line 21 - p. 13, line 5. There was no logical reason for the officer to question the defendant about the vehicle's registration if he had, in fact, seen a temporary plate before speaking with her.

The defendant disputes the court's finding, claiming police video evidence of the scene shows a temporary plate hanging in the back window of her vehicle, which would have been evident to Officer Weber. Defendant's Brief at 33. The State disagrees. After reviewing the police video evidence, the district court concluded that Officer Weber's failure to see the plate before approaching the defendant was objectively reasonable. As the court correctly observed: "The stop of defendant's vehicle occurred at nearly 3:00 a.m. under challenging lighting conditions." Ruling unnumbered p. 4; App. 15. The rear window of the vehicle was darkly tinted. Suppression Tr. p. 15, lines 9 - 19; p. 19, lines 8 - 13. Ruling unnumbered p. 4; App. 15. Furthermore, the vehicle was painted black and its windows were dirty, including the back window. Suppression Tr. p. 10, lines 5 - 11.

The court found this dirt "reflected the light from Officer Weber's headlights and flashlight, exacerbating the problem." Ruling unnumbered p. 4; App. 15. And, fumes leaving the vehicle's exhaust "billow[ed] up from the rear driver's side, directly below where the temporary plate was located." Ruling unnumbered p. 4; App. 15. Consequently, the district court concluded that Officer Weber did not see the temporary paper plate in the back window. It found that the officer's testimony in that regard was supported by video taken at the scene. The State submits that the relevant portions of the video evidence support all of the court's factual findings on the matter at issue. State's Exhibit A, Disc 1, Weber Video 709 - 02:52:26 -02:52:41; 02:52:38 - 02:53:36; Weber Video HDBW 39 - 02:55:27 -02:55: 35.

Finally, Officer Weber indicated at suppression that while he may take note of a temporary license plate when clearly visible after he leaves his car during a traffic stop, his focus is nevertheless on the driver. He is "cautious on [his] approach" and watches for any furtive movements because "traffic stops are sort of volatile." Suppression Tr. p. 16, lines 11 – 23; p. 17, line 24 – p. 18, line 9.

All of these circumstances support the district court's finding that Officer Weber's failed to see the temporary plate in the vehicle's back window before speaking with the defendant. See Pennsylvania v. Mimms, 434 U.S. 106, 110, 98 S.Ct. 330, 333, 54 L.Ed. 2d 331, 336 -37 (1977) (per curiam) (in recognizing officer safety as a "legitimate and weighty" concern in traffic stops, Court notes a significant percentage of murders of police officers occurs during traffic stops); State v. Lloyd, 701 N.W. 2d at 681 (in upholding stop at 2:20 a.m. for lack of permanent license plate, Court found it "certainly understandable how the deputy could have missed the temporary plate" given the darkness); United States v. Mendoza, 691 F.3d 954, 956, 958 – 59 (8th Cir. 2012) (in upholding stop for possible improper temporary plate, as observed by officer when following the car, Court accepted as not implausible officer's testimony that because of safety concerns she focused on the car's occupants, and not the temporary plate, as she walked up to it).

In sum, the evidence before the district court supports its conclusion that the police officer did not see the temporary license plate as he walked up to the defendant's vehicle, and so the stop was

not impermissibly extended under *Coleman* – further investigation was warranted.

B. The defendant's reasonable diligence claim.

The defendant also argues that Officer Weber had a duty to diligently and reasonably investigate the reason for the stop – the absence of a permanent license plate. She concedes he did not see a temporary plate in the back window as he followed her vehicle in his patrol car. But she urges, apparently, that if the officer did not initially see it when he got out of his car, he had a duty to diligently and reasonably investigate "by looking for the plate prior to approaching [the defendant]." Defendant's Brief at 36. Defendant argues that such a duty exists under both the Fourth Amendment and article I, section 8 of the Iowa Constitution. However, the defendant also asserts that if this Court finds the Fourth Amendment does not require such a duty, it should hold it is required by the Iowa Constitution. Defendant's Brief at 32 – 33, 36, 38. There is no need for this Court to entertain the defendant's state constitutional claim. As previously argued, this claim has been waived.

Moreover, this question need not be considered because the State does not dispute that a police officer who is investigating a traffic offense should act with reasonable diligence. *Rodriguez v. United States*, 575 U.S. ____, ___, 135 S. Ct. 1609, 1614, 1616, 191 L.Ed.

2d 492, (2015); *In re Property Seized from Pardee*, 872 N.W. 2d 384, 392 – 93 (Iowa 2015).

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